

House of Commons International Development Committee

Aid spending in the UK

Sixth Report of Session 2022–23

Report, together with formal minutes relating to the report

Ordered by the House of Commons to be printed 28 February 2023

The International Development Committee

The International Development Committee is appointed by the House of Commons to examine the expenditure, administration and policy of the Department for International Development and its associated public bodies.

On 1 September 2020, DFID and the Foreign and Commonwealth Office were merged to form the Foreign, Commonwealth and Development Office (FCDO). The Committee remains responsible for scrutiny of those parts of FCDO expenditure, administration and policy that were formerly the responsibility of DFID.

Current membership

Sarah Champion MP (Labour, Rotherham) (Chair)

Mr Richard Bacon MP (Conservative, South Norfolk)

Theo Clarke MP (Conservative, Stafford)

Mrs Pauline Latham OBE MP (Conservative, Mid Derbyshire)

Chris Law MP (Scottish National Party, Dundee West)

Mr Ian Liddell-Grainger MP (Conservative, Bridgwater and West Somerset)

Nigel Mills MP (Conservative, Amber Valley)

Navendu Mishra MP (Labour, Stockport)

David Mundell MP (Conservative, Dumfriesshire, Clydesdale and Tweeddale)

Kate Osamor MP (Labour, Edmonton)

Mr Virendra Sharma MP (Labour, Ealing Southall)

Powers

The Committee is one of the departmental select committees, the powers of which are set out in House of Commons Standing Orders, principally in SO No. 152. These are available on the internet via www.parliament.uk.

Publications

© Parliamentary Copyright House of Commons 2023. This publication may be reproduced under the terms of the Open Parliament Licence, which is published at www.parliament.uk/site-information/copyright-parliament/.

Committee reports are published on the <u>Committee's website</u> and in print by Order of the House.

Committee staff

The current staff of the Committee are Nick Beech (Clerk), Estelle Currie (Media and Communications Officer), Gini Griffin (Second Clerk), Paul Hampson (Committee Operations Officer), Danniella Kinder (Committee Specialist), Alex Knight (Senior Economist), Rowena Macdonald (Committee Operations Officer), Emma Makey (Senior Committee Specialist), Ailish McAllister-Fisher (Second Clerk), Leo Oliveira (Committee Operations Manager), Alison Pickard (Committee Specialist), and Emily Ward (Committee Specialist).

Contacts

All correspondence should be addressed to the Clerk of the International Development Committee, House of Commons, London SW1A 0AA. The telephone number for general enquiries is 020 7219 1223; the Committee's email address is indcom@parliament.uk

You can follow the Committee on Twitter using @CommonsIDC.

Contents

Aid spending in the UK	3
Background	3
Aid spending on refugees in the UK	3
Home Office ODA spending	4
HM Treasury additional resources	5
OECD rules	5
Oversight and transparency	6
Proposed ODA Board	6
Effect on UK aid provision overseas of UK aid spending in-country	7
Recommendation	7
Formal minutes	8
Witnesses	9
Published written evidence	10
List of Reports from the Committee during the current Parliament	11

Aid spending in the UK

Background

1. The International Development Committee inquiry on Aid spending in the UK scrutinised the Government's decision to spend a significant and increasing proportion of the Official Development Assistance (ODA) budget in the UK. The proportion of aid spent in the UK drastically increased in recent years, while programmes supporting people in the world's poorest countries were cut. The Government is legally and morally obliged to support people fleeing conflict and humanitarian crises who arrive in this country. It is, however, a political choice by Government to provide such support at the expense of vulnerable and marginalised people living in the world's poorest countries. This inquiry examined the costs and consequences of that choice.

Aid spending on refugees in the UK

- 2. In 2021, the most recent year for which data are available, the Government spent more than £1 billion of the aid budget on in-country refugee costs.² That unprecedented expenditure accounted for almost 10% of the total ODA budget, which exceeded the percentage of ODA allocated to any other sector.³ In 2021, ODA spending was reduced on the health, humanitarian and education sectors, while in-country refugee costs was the only category on which expenditure increased.⁴ In 2020, the Government spent 4.3% of the ODA budget on in-country refugee costs compared with 2% in 2015.⁵ In 2021, Home Office spending from the aid budget on refugees in the UK increased to almost £1 billion, of which more than half was spent on "initial accommodation".⁶ ⁷
- 3. The Government is yet to publish statistics on aid spending in 2022.⁸ However, the sum spent in the UK is likely to have expanded significantly, in part due to the increased number of people arriving in the UK under the Government's resettlement schemes for
- The IDC Aid Spending in the UK inquiry opened on 15 November 2022 with a call for evidence. The Committee published 15 items of written evidence, including a joint submission from the FCDO, the Treasury, the Department for Levelling Up, Housing and Communities and the Home Office. The inquiry included two oral evidence sessions. On 13 December 2022, the Committee took oral evidence from NGOs and academics. On 8 February 2023, the Committee took oral evidence from Rt Hon. Andrew Mitchell MP, Minister of State (Development and Africa), Foreign Commonwealth and Development Office, Rt Hon. John Glen MP, Chief Secretary to the Treasury and Rt Hon. Robert Jenrick MP, Minister for Immigration, Home Office. In addition, the Committee visited South Yorkshire in December 2022 to examine Home Office expenditure on refugees.
- 2 Under the OECD DAC rules on aid spending, domestic aid spending on refugees is categorised as "in-donor refugee costs". These figures are for calendar year 2021. We use the phrase "in-country refugee costs" rather than "in-donor refugee costs" throughout this report to support the general reader.
- Foreign, Commonwealth and Development Office; His Majesty's Treasury; Home Office; and Department for Levelling Up, Housing and Communities (ASU0015)
- 4 Foreign, Commonwealth and Development Office, Statistics on International Development: Final UK Aid Spend 2021, November 2022
- Foreign, Commonwealth and Development Office; His Majesty's Treasury; Home Office; and Department for Levelling Up, Housing and Communities (ASU0015)
- Ibid. According to the Home Office, there are two main stages of asylum accommodation. These are initial accommodation: short-term accommodation for asylum seekers who need accommodation urgently, and dispersal accommodation: longer-term temporary accommodation managed by accommodation providers on behalf of the Home Office. Source
- 7 We note that 20% of expenditure on refugee accommodation in hotels in the UK is returned to HM Treasury in VAT
- A full breakdown of aid spending in 2022 will be published in the next edition of Statistics on International Development in November 2023. Less detailed provisional statistics are due for publication in April 2023.

Ukrainian and Afghan refugees and in small boats. The Center for Global Development (CGD) estimated that the amount of aid spent on in-country refugee costs in 2022 could exceed £3 billion, an increase of more than 300% since 2020. Save the Children estimated that those costs could be as high as £4.5 billion in 2022–23, accounting for one-third of the entire aid budget. The publication of the Foreign, Commonwealth and Development Office's (FCDO's) Supplementary Estimate for 2022–23 suggested that those budgetary pressures will continue into the future. Meanwhile, the Home Office's Supplementary Estimate included plans to spend more than £2.6 billion of ODA in 2022–23, an increase of nearly £2 billion—or 300%—on its Main Estimate. The recent increase in the proportion and sum of ODA disbursed on supporting refugees in the UK is unprecedented and unsustainable.

Home Office ODA spending

- 4. We asked Treasury, FCDO and Home Office Ministers whether the sum that the Home Office can draw from the ODA budget is subject to any restrictions. Ministers were unwilling to answer that question, perhaps because no limit has been applied. Professor Stefan Dercon, former Chief Economist at the Department for International Development before it was merged into the FCDO, described the ODA budget as an "open-ended envelope" for Departments seeking funding for in-country refugee costs. He observed that allowing Departments to draw unlimited amounts of funding from the ODA budget does not incentivise them to spend that money effectively because, in any event, "ODA will pay for it". 16
- 5. In the most recent three years for which data are available, UK aid spending per refugee in the UK almost tripled, increasing from £6,700 per capita in 2019 to £21,700 per capita in 2021. That level of per capita spending exceeded any other OECD Development Assistance Committee (DAC) country during 2018–21. It is around three times the DAC average of £7,400. The increase in per capita costs is likely to have been caused by the cost of housing asylum seekers in hotels. Between March 2020 and September 2022, the number of asylum seekers housed in "contingency accommodation", which largely consists of hotels, increased from almost 2,600 to more than 37,000. The recent trebling of per capita costs on supporting refugees in the UK represents unwarranted largesse by the Home Office at the expense of both UK taxpayers and people living in the world's poorest countries.
- 9 Center for Global Development, <u>Projections of UK-Hosted Refugees</u>, and the implications for the UK's Aid Budget and Spend, 26 September 2022
- 10 Center for Global Development (ASU0010)
- 11 Save the Children (ASU0009)
- FCDO, Supplementary Estimate 2022–23. The Supplementary Estimate included plans to reduce the FCDO's ODA expenditure by more than £1.7 billion compared with the original spending plans (Main Estimates), published in May 2022. The FCDO's Supplementary Estimate Memorandum stated that the purpose of this was to "support the reallocation of ODA budget across government". It is not currently clear how that £1.7 billion will be allocated among other Departments, but it suggests a possible reprioritisation of aid spending to Departments that are more likely to spend their ODA allocations within the UK.
- 13 Home Office, Supplementary Estimate 2022–23
- 14 Q69-70
- 15 Q48 (Professor Dercon)
- 16 Q48 (Professor Dercon)
- 17 Center for Global Development (ASU0010)
- 18 Center for Global Development, Projections of UK-Hosted Refugees, and the implications for the UK's Aid Budget and Spend, 26 September 2022
- 19 Development Initiatives (ASU0012)
- 20 The Guardian, Number of asylum seekers placed in UK hotels has soared since 2020, 10 February 2023

HM Treasury additional resources

6. In the Autumn Statement 2022, the Government announced "additional resources of £1 billion in 2022–23 and £1.5 billion in 2023–24 to help meet the significant and unanticipated costs which have been incurred" as a result of the increased number of refugees from Afghanistan and Ukraine, a total of £2.5 billion over two years. ²¹ However, in-country refugee costs for 2022 alone may well exceed £2.5 billion. Based on the Prime Minister's statement that the Government is spending "£7 million a day" on hotels, we put it to Ministers that costs could exceed £2.4 billion in just one year. In response, Robert Jenrick MP, Minister for Immigration, Home Office, acknowledged that Home Office spending on initial accommodation will be "substantially higher" than in 2021. ²² The Home Office's own Supplementary Estimate suggested that its ODA spending for 2022–23 could exceed £2.6 billion. ²³ The additional ODA funding provided by HM Treasury for the next two years is inadequate, because it is less than the likely cost of supporting refugees in the UK for the next 12 months.

OECD rules

- 7. The OECD's Development Assistance Committee (DAC), of which the UK is a member, determines the rules on using ODA to support refugees in donor countries.²⁴ Under those rules, donor countries can count the costs of assisting asylum seekers or refugees in their own countries for the 12 months following the date of their arrival as ODA.²⁵ Subsequent clarifications to the rules, however, urge donors to take a "conservative approach" to counting in-country spend on refugees as ODA.²⁶ The Government justified its decision to spend a significant proportion of the aid budget in the UK because such spending is permitted under the DAC rules.²⁷ However, the use of the aid budget for that purpose does not fall within the OECD's definition of ODA, which is spending that "promotes and specifically targets the economic development and welfare of developing countries".²⁸
- 8. Other DAC member countries have adopted different approaches. For example, Australia does not count any of its in-country refugee costs as ODA, while Sweden has set an upper limit on ODA expenditure on in-country refugee costs.²⁹ The UK is the only G7 state to count all its in-country spending on support for Ukrainian refugees as ODA.³⁰ The ONE Campaign described the UK Government as an "outlier", while Bond observed that it is taking "full advantage" of the rules.³¹ ³² **Government policy on ODA spending**
- 21 HM Treasury, Autumn Statement 2022, November 2022
- 22 Q106. Home Office spend on initial accommodation in 2021 was £582 million.
- 23 Home Office, Supplementary Estimate 2022–23
- 24 The other members of the DAC are listed here.
- The DAC rules set out the legitimate costs that can be counted as ODA: these costs include accommodation, subsistence, health and education. The DAC rules clarification also set out the categories considered to be under the term "refugee". These include: asylum seekers; refugees and recognised refugees; and people granted temporary protection, such as through a temporary resident permit, after applying for asylum to avoid civil war or severe unrest.
- 26 OECD, Clarifications to the statistical reporting directives on in-donor refugee costs, p.15
- 27 OECD, United Kingdom: In-donor refugee costs in ODA, accessed February 2023
- 28 OECD, Official development assistance (ODA), accessed February 2023. See Amnesty International UK (ASU0001) and Development Initiatives (ASU0012)
- 29 The ONE Campaign (ASU0006)
- 30 Center for Global Development, Projections of UK-Hosted Refugees, and the implications for the UK's Aid Budget and Spend, 26 September 2022
- 31 The ONE Campaign (ASU0006)
- 32 Bond (ASU0008)

on in-country refugees is incompatible with the spirit of the OECD Development Assistance Committee rules.

Oversight and transparency

- 9. The detail on ODA spending in the UK is published in the Government's annual Statistics on International Development.³³ The most recent statistics cover 2021. Those statistics do not reflect recent important developments such as Russia's invasion of Ukraine, which has increased the number of refugees arriving in the UK. The lack of upto-date, accessible, granular data has constrained the Committee's ability to scrutinise aid spending.
- 10. The Government frustrated our attempts to elicit additional information on how it spends ODA in the UK. For example, the IDC Chair, Sarah Champion MP, tabled Written Parliamentary Questions to the Home Office asking whether its spending on contracts with accommodation providers and other support services were drawn from the ODA budget. The Answers were entirely and wilfully unilluminating. Hublish What You Fund, an organisation that campaigns for greater transparency on aid spending, suggested that in-country refugee costs are "less transparent" than other forms of aid spending, because Departments other than the FCDO have poorer records on transparency. Save the Children highlighted that while FCDO and HM Treasury monitor ODA spending by other Departments, "the current structure provides no oversight over the quality of spending surrounding its efficient and effective use". The Home Office approach to transparency on ODA spending is woefully inadequate and wilfully opaque. Parliament cannot adequately hold the Government to account when the Government is obscuring the facts.

Proposed ODA Board

11. Andrew Mitchell MP, Minister of State (Development and Africa), FCDO, described the ODA budget as "effectively out of control". He stated that the Government is seeking to "bear down" on ODA spending and maximise value for money through the establishment of a new ODA Board. On 7 February 2023, he set out limited details on how the Board, which he plans to co-chair with the Chief Secretary to the Treasury, will operate. He asserted that the ODA Board will "drive up the quality and coherence of ODA spent across government". We welcome his aspiration to improve accountability and transparency on ODA expenditure across Government and by the Home Office in particular. However, the proposed ODA Board is yet to meet and was announced in a letter to the Committee delivered late on the day before our oral evidence session with Ministers. The proposed new ODA Board is unproven and aspirational. The Government is yet to set out the detail on the ODA Board's composition and function to Parliament, and the ODA Board is yet to conduct its first meeting. It is unclear how the new Board will prevent the Home Office from continuing to treat the ODA budget like a blank cheque.

³³ SID is published each November and contains data on aid spending for the previous calendar year.

³⁴ PQ 111599 and PQ 117597

³⁵ Publish What You Fund (ASU0004)

³⁶ Save the Children (ASU0009)

³⁷ Q426 (Andrew Mitchell), Oral evidence taken on 6 December 2022

³⁸ Q61 (Mr Mitchell)

³⁹ Foreign, Commonwealth and Development Office (ASU0016)

⁴⁰ Ibid.

Effect on UK aid provision overseas of UK aid spending in-country

- 12. In the past three years, the Government has cut UK aid by, for example, decreasing the aid budget from 0.7% to 0.5% of Gross National Income in 2020 and imposing a subsequent pause on "non-essential" aid spending. It argued that that pause was necessary to allow "time and fiscal space to revise departmental ODA budgets to accommodate the unexpected in-country refugee costs". The reduced overall budget and increased expenditure from that budget on in-country refugee costs meant that the UK provided substantially less aid to the world's poorest countries. In 2021, UK bilateral aid spending in least developed countries (LDCs) decreased to £1.4 billion, which represented around 12% of the aid budget. That 50% decrease in aid to LDCs amounted to a more than £900 million cut in UK aid spending. That cut was made against a backdrop of severe humanitarian need in, for example, the Horn of Africa and Afghanistan.
- 13. NGOs emphasised the need to spend ODA where it is most effective. Bond, the network for UK-based international development organisations, recommended that the Government should "re-centre" poverty eradication, the Sustainable Development Goals and the commitment to leaving no one behind as the main priorities for UK aid. ⁴³ Daphne Jayasinghe, Chief Policy Adviser, International Rescue Committee (IRC), told us that the aid budget should be spent "where it does the maximum amount of good", especially in fragile and conflict-affected states. ⁴⁴ We asked Andrew Mitchell MP, Minister of State (Development and Africa), FCDO, how increased aid spending in the UK had affected his Department's ability to help people in the world's poorest countries. He acknowledged that the ODA budget has been "very constrained" and that it was "extraordinarily difficult" to plan long-term spending. ⁴⁵ The increase in ODA expenditure in the UK has decreased funding for aid projects supporting poor and marginalised people in the world's least developed countries, a self-defeating outcome which is likely only to increase the number of refugees arriving in the UK.

Recommendation

14. The Chief Secretary to the Treasury argued that "it is all taxpayers' money that needs to be managed"; we agree. The eye-watering cost of supporting refugees in the UK may be politically unpalatable and publicly unpopular, but the Government should not attempt to conceal it by performing a budgetary sleight of hand at the expense of people living in the world's poorest countries. To guarantee that the FCDO can plan and deliver support for people living in the world's poorest countries, to ensure that any future Home Office raids on the ODA budget are supplementary to FCDO expenditure on development and to comply with the spirit of the OECD Development Assistance Committee rules, HM Treasury must ring-fence the equivalent of 0.5% GNI in the ODA budget for expenditure on development assistance delivered outside the UK from 1 April 2023.

⁴¹ Foreign, Commonwealth and Development Office; His Majesty's Treasury; Home Office; and Department for Levelling Up, Housing and Communities (ASU0015)

⁴² Bond (ASU0008)

⁴³ Bond (ASU0008)

⁴⁴ Q34 (Daphne Jayasinghe)

⁴⁵ Q62 (Mr Mitchell)

⁴⁶ Q158 (John Glen)

Formal minutes

Tuesday 28 February 2023

Members present:

Sarah Champion, in the Chair

Richard Bacon

Theo Clarke

Mrs Pauline Latham

Chris Law

Mr Ian Liddell-Grainger

Kate Osamor

Mr Virendra Sharma

Draft Report (*Aid spending in the UK*), proposed by the Chair, brought up and read.

Ordered, That the draft Report be read a second time, paragraph by paragraph.

Paragraphs 1 to 14 read and agreed to.

Resolved, That the Report be the Sixth Report of the Committee to the House.

Ordered, That the Chair make the Report to the House.

Ordered, That embargoed copies of the Report be made available in accordance with the provisions of Standing Order No. 134.

[Adjourned till Tuesday 7 March at 2.00 pm.

Witnesses

The following witnesses gave evidence. Transcripts can be viewed on the <u>inquiry publications</u> page of the Committee's website.

Tuesday 13 December 2022

Enver Solomon, Chief Executive, Refugee Council; Daphne Jayasinghe, Chief Policy Adviser, International Rescue Committee

Q1–34

Ian Mitchell, Senior Policy Fellow, Center for Global Development; Professor Michael Collyer, Professor, University of Sussex; Professor Stefan Dercon, Professor of Economic Policy, Blavatnik School of Government

Q35–54

Wednesday 8 February 2023

Rt Hon Andrew Mitchell MP, Minister of State (Development and Africa), Foreign, Commonwealth & Development Office; **Rt Hon Robert Jenrick MP**, Minister for Immigration, Home Office; **Rt Hon John Glen MP**, Chief Secretary to the Treasury, HM Treasury

Q55-175

Published written evidence

The following written evidence was received and can be viewed on the <u>inquiry publications</u> page of the Committee's website.

ASU numbers are generated by the evidence processing system and so may not be complete.

- 1 Amnesty International UK (ASU0001)
- 2 Bond (ASU0008)
- 3 Center for Global Development (ASU0010)
- 4 Development Initiatives (ASU0012)
- 5 Foreign, Commonwealth & Development Office (ASU0016)
- Foreign, Commonwealth and Development Office, His Majesty's Treasury, The Home Office and The Department for Levelling Up, Housing and Communities (ASU0015)
- 7 International Rescue Committee (ASU0014)
- 8 International Rescue Committee UK (ASU0013)
- 9 Kernohan, Professor George (Professor of Health Research, Ulster University) (ASU0002)
- 10 Lazell, Dr Melita (Assocaite Head of School: Principal Lecturer in Political Economy, University of Portsmouth) (ASU0005)
- 11 Publish What You Fund (ASU0004)
- 12 Save the Children (ASU0009)
- 13 Scotland's International Development Alliance (ASU0003)
- 14 The HALO Trust (ASU0011)
- 15 The ONE Campaign (ASU0006)

List of Reports from the Committee during the current Parliament

All publications from the Committee are available on the publications page of the Committee's website.

Session 2022–23

Number	Title	Reference
1st Report	Racism in the aid sector	HC 150
2nd Report	Food insecurity	HC 504
3rd Report	From Srebrenica to a safer tomorrow: Preventing future mass atrocities around the world	HC 149
4th Report	(Fourth Report of the International Development Committee) - Developments in UK Strategic Export Controls	HC 282
5th Report	Extreme poverty and the Sustainable Development Goals	HC 147
1st Special Report	Afghanistan: UK support for aid workers and the Afghan people: Government response to the Committee's Fifth Report of Session 2021–22	HC 152
2nd Special Report	Food insecurity: Government response to the Committee's Second Report	HC 767
3rd Special Report	UK aid to Pakistan: Government Response to the Sixth Report of the Committee	HC 829
4th Special Report	From Srebrenica to a safer tomorrow: Preventing future mass atrocities around the world: Government response to the Committee's Third Report	HC 992
5th Special Report	Racism in the aid sector: Government response to the Committee's First Report	HC 956

Session 2021–22

Number	Title	Reference
1st Report	Assessing DFID's results in nutrition Review: report from the Sub-Committee on the Work of ICAI	HC 103
2nd Report	Global Britain in demand: UK climate action and international development around COP26	HC 99
3rd Report	The UK's approach to tackling modern slavery through the aid programme: report from the Sub-Committee on the Work of ICAI	HC 104

Number	Title	Reference
4th Report	International climate finance: UK aid for halting deforestation and preventing irreversible biodiversity loss: report from the Sub-Committee on the Work of ICAI	HC 730
5th Report	Afghanistan: UK support for aid workers and the Afghan people	HC 919
6th Report	UK aid to Pakistan	HC 102
1st Special Report	The humanitarian situation in Tigray: Government Response to the Committee's Tenth Report of Session 2019–21	HC 554
2nd Special Report	The UK's Support to the African Development Bank Group: report from the Sub-Committee on the work of ICAI: Government Response to the Committee's Ninth Report of Session 2019–21	HC 555
3rd Special Report	DFID's results in nutrition Review: report from the Sub- Committee on the work of ICAI: Government response to the Committee's First Report	HC 780
4th Special Report	Global Britain in demand: UK climate action and international development around COP26: Government response to the Committee's Second Report	HC 1008
5th Special Report	The UK's approach to tackling modern slavery through the aid programme: report from the Sub-Committee on the Work of ICAI: Government response to the Committee's Third Report	HC 1021

Session 2019-21

Number	Title	Reference
1st Report	Humanitarian crises monitoring: the Rohingya	HC 259
2nd Report	Effectiveness of UK aid: interim findings	HC 215
3rd Report	The Newton Fund review: report of the Sub-Committee on the work of ICAI	HC 260
4th Report	Effectiveness of UK aid: potential impact of FCO/DFID merger	HC 596
5th Report	Humanitarian crises monitoring: impact of coronavirus (interim findings)	HC 292
6th Report	The Changing Nature of UK Aid in Ghana Review: report from the Sub-Committee on the Work of ICAI	HC 535
7th Report	Progress on tackling the sexual exploitation and abuse of aid beneficiaries	HC 605
8th Report	Covid-19 in developing countries: secondary impacts	HC 1186
9th Report	The UK's support to the African Development Bank Group: report from the Sub-Committee on the Work of ICAI	HC 1055

Number	Title	Reference
10th Report	The humanitarian situation in Tigray	HC 1289
1st Special Report	Follow up: sexual exploitation and abuse in the aid sector: Government Response to the First Report of the Committee	HC 127
2nd Special Report	Humanitarian crises monitoring: the Rohingya: Government Response to the First Report of the Committee	HC 658
3rd Special Report	The Newton Fund review: report of the Sub-Committee on the work of ICAI: Government response to the Committee's Third Report	HC 742
4th Special Report	Effectiveness of UK Aid: Interim Report & Effectiveness of UK Aid: potential impact of FCO/DFID merger: Government Response to the Second & Fourth Reports	HC 820
5th Special Report	Humanitarian crises monitoring: impact of coronavirus (interim findings): Government Response to the Committee's Fifth Report	HC 1160
6th Special Report	The Changing Nature of UK Aid in Ghana Review: report from the Sub-Committee on the Work of ICAI: Government response to the Committee's Sixth Report	HC 1198
7th Special Report	Progress on tackling the sexual exploitation and abuse of aid beneficiaries: Government Response to the Seventh Report of the Committee, Session 2019–21	HC 1332
8th Special Report	Covid-19 in developing countries: secondary impacts: Government Response to the Eighth Report of the Committee	HC 1351